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Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current physical appearance of the property. Explain contributing and noncontributing resources

if necessary. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as
its location, setting, size, and significant features.)

Summary Paragraph

The Shaker Farm Historic District is an early twentieth century suburban residential development of approximately 266
acres, first platted in 1904 with several refinements up to 1915. In general, Shaker Farm reflects a trend of suburban
development that emphasized natural park-like features rather than gridiron planning. This design rejects the gridiron
street planning that destroyed natural features in older portions of Cleveland. Instead, the planning favors preserving
natural artistic lines in the form of curvilinear streets, converting waste spaces (such as islands at intersections) into beauty
spots (see Photos #1 and #2), and judiciously preserving natural lakes, ravines, patches of woodland and other attractive
areas of landscape. The tree-lined streets still have mostly sawed stone sidewalks. Collectively, these features contribute
to the beauty and value of adjacent properties that exhibit expansive front lawns and gardens, towering trees and upscale,
architect-designed homes.

From west to east, the District spans a swath of land stretching from approximately five-and-a-half miles to seven miles
east of downtown Cleveland in an area called the Heights because it lies on the plateau that averages 400 feet above
Lake Erie. Located adjacent to and just east of the City of Cleveland, in the eastern part of Cuyahoga County, the Heights
mark the end of the Allegheny Mountains in this region. Originally, the land was woodsy with streams flowing down to
Lake Erie. Starting in 1822, the North Union Shaker Colony gradually acquired most of this land and farmed it until 1889.
Shaker Farm Historic District is located in the northern portion of the farmland that the Shakers owned.

Due to streetcar access beginning in 1907, its development preceded building in the southern part of Shaker farmland,
which did not gain adequate streetcar access until 1920. This southern tract is listed on the National Register of Historic
Places as Shaker Village District and mostly coincides with today's Shaker Heights. Shaker Farm Historic District lies a
half mile east of Ambler Heights Historic District and adjacent to Euclid Golf Allotment Historic District, where development
started a few years earlier and a few years later, respectively. Fairmount Boulevard District runs through part of Shaker
Farm.

The district encompasses 504 contributing resources, consisting mainly of houses, but also included are garages,
carriage houses, two educational buildings, a church and a shed. Also within the district are 80 resources considered to be
non-contributing because they were built outside of the period of significance or have lost integrity through alteration. (See
Exhibit 1) In addition to these 584 resources, the district includes a portion of the Fairmount Boulevard Historic District,
listed on the National Register in 1976. The portion of Fairmount Boulevard Historic District located within the Shaker
Farms Historic District contains eighty-five previously listed contributing resources and five non-contributing. (See Exhibit
1) The contributing buildings are well maintained with relatively few alterations to the original structures. This area remains
attractive to professionals and successful businesspersons — the market it was designed for.

Narrative Description
NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

Construction of residences in the Shaker Farm Historic District began in 1906. Two-thirds of the principal structures in the
District were built between 1910 and 1919, and the District was more than 90 percent built out by 1929. Located on the
south side of Cleveland Heights, Ohio, an inner-ring suburb of Cleveland, the District is predominantly an example of the
successful marketing of country living in tracts that preserved the charm of nature to affluent buyers early in the
suburbanization of Cleveland. At the time, the location of the development was rural. A marketing brochure by O.C. Ringle
& Co., Sole Agents, entitled, “Shaker Heights, [deal Home Sites” and used in 1904 and 1905, offered buyers “the benefits
and delights of living in the country,” including “fresh air, pure water and spacious surroundings” and “the fragrance of
nature’s wild flowers.” This was at a time when industrialization and development had made the City of Cleveland grimy
and unattractive.

Today Shaker Farm consists of 504 contributing resources that include single dwelling homes, outbuildings, schools and a
church, and 80 non-contributing buildings either constructed outside the period of significance or substantially altered. As
indicated above, it also contains 85 previously listed contributing buildings and five non-contributing located within the
existing Fairmount Boulevard historic district. Thus, Shaker Farm has a grand total of 674 buildings; of those, 589
contribute to the significance of the district. (See Exhibit #1) The two churches in the mainly residential district replace
earlier structures. Two of Shaker Farm's three educational facilities are contributing, and one is non-contributing. Eight
original homes have been demolished over the years, but the remaining original homes and the District itself are well-
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preserved. The District retains integrity in terms of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and
association.

The western boundary is the access road just west of Roxboro Middle School, entered on the north from West St. James
Parkway between Ardleigh Drive and Delamere Drive, and on the south, from Roxboro Road, which connects directly to
North Park Boulevard from a school turnaround and parking lot. The southern boundary is North Park Boulevard from
Roxboro Road to the lot on the northwest corner of Coventry Road. This lot is excluded for reasons explained below. The
southern boundary then extends along the back property line of the homes on Fairmount Boulevard, encompassing 2989
North Woodland Road. At Wellington Road, the southern boundary becomes Fairmount Boulevard. The property at
17415 Shelburne Road is included in this southern boundary. The eastern boundary of the District is the back property line
of houses on the east side of Ashton Road. On this eastern end of the District, the northern boundary is the back property
line of houses on the north side of East Monmouth Road. Carving out the south end of the Church of the Savior property,
the boundary goes north along the middle of Lee Road to Fairfax School, where the boundary proceeds west just south of
Fairfax School and then along the rear property line of houses on Scarborough Road'’s south side to Fairmount
Presbyterian Church, which is included in the boundary. There the northern boundary becomes the center of Scarborough
Road and crosses Coventry Road and Fairmount Boulevard to include the first three homes on Scarborough’s south side
west of Fairmount. The boundary then proceeds south along the back property line of the houses facing east on Coventry
Road, also encompassing the two residences just west of Coventry on the north side of Colchester Road. The boundary
turns west to run along the back of the properties facing south on North Park Boulevard. The District encompasses the
two houses on the west side of Woodmere Road closest to North Park Boulevard. It also includes one house on Roxboro
Road and the two Roxboro schools, but not the playing fields to the east of Roxboro Middle Schoal. The playing fields
were originally part of the park across the street, so the boundary runs around the school buildings and then west along St.
James Parkway until it intersects the western District boundary between Ardleigh and Delamere Drives. (See Map #1 for
the boundaries of the District.)

The District occupies the northern section of 1,393 acres owned by the North Union Shaker Colony between 1822 and
1892 (see Map #2). The Shakers farmed the land and dammed Doan Brook in places to form lakes. The brook and lakes
powered several mills, and the Shakers also built a blacksmith shop, a meeting house and communal living buildings on
their land. Traces of these structures remain in the North Union Shaker Site listed on the National Register of Historic
Places in 1974 (see Map #3). The northern Shaker farmland was by and large part of the original Warrensville Township
(organized in 1814). Later, this area became part of the village of Cleveland Heights (incorporated in 1903) and the city of
Cleveland Heights (incorporated in 1921). Today, Doan Brook and the two lakes mark the boundary between Cleveland
Heights and Shaker Heights.

The southern part of the land owned by the Shakers today forms the most of present-day Shaker Heights, Ohio. This
southern development was registered as an historic district on the National Register of Historic Places in 1984 and named
the Shaker Village District (see Map #4). The North Union Shaker Site discussed above is entirely contained in the
northern part of the Shaker Village District, which also encompasses some property in Cleveland Heights, including
properties along the north side of North Park Boulevard from the lot just west of Coventry Road and all the lots lining North
Park Boulevard east of Coventry Road (excluding the property of the Carmelite Cloister and the Beaumont School for
Girls). The Shaker Village District also includes the homes on Shelburne Road, excluding the home at 17415 Shelburne,
which is included in Shaker Farm Historic District. Residences included in the Shaker Village District are outside the
boundaries of the Shaker Farm Historic District.

Fairmount Presbyterian Church, five homes on Coventry Road south of Fairmount Boulevard, and homes along Fairmount
Boulevard between Coventry and Wellington Roads are part of the Fairmount Boulevard District submitted in 1974 and
listed in 1976 on the National Register of Historic Places (see Map #5). The listing of addresses in the Fairmount
Boulevard District as approved in 1976 includes the addresses for 59 residences within the boundary of the Shaker Farm
Historic District. The address for Fairmount Presbyterian Church is not on this list (the adjacent rectory is), but the church
is discussed in the application. Some of the 1976 addresses are for homes not 50 years old at the time of the Fairmount
Boulevard application, the residence at one address on the 1976 list had already been torn down as of 1971, and the 1976
listing does not account for outbuildings.

Using the period of significance for Shaker Farm and including outbuildings and the church, the number of resources
considered to contribute to the Fairmount Boulevard Historic District and therefore previously listed for the Shaker Farm
from the Fairmount Boulevard District numbers 85. Another five resources within the Fairmount Boulevard District
boundary are noncontributing because they were constructed outside the period of significance or considerable altered.
The Fairmount Boulevard District east of Coventry Road to Wellington Road forms part of the southern boundary of the
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Shaker Farm Historic District. Planning and marketing of the lots along Fairmount Boulevard were part of The Shaker
Heights Improvement Co. development plans (see Map #6), so including them is appropriate. (Also note Map #7. Both of
these maps were used repeatedly and often together in Shaker Heights Improvement Company brochures promoting the
development. Map #7 shows how the District relates to other developments and sites in the Heights at the time and
highlights the electric car line.)

One property, within the boundaries of the Fairmount Boulevard District, the Tremaine-Gallagher House at 3001 Fairmount
Boulevard, has been individually listed on the National Register of Historic Places since 1973. Interestingly, an
architecturally significant house at 2989 North Woodland Road in Cleveland Heights was left stranded between the Shaker
Village and Fairmount Boulevard Districts; it is included in the Shaker Farm Historic District.

Shaker Farm Historic District does not include the homes along the south side of Scarborough Road between Coventry
and Lee Roads. These homes lie on the northern border of Shaker farmland but were largely developed by The James J.
Hinde Realty Company as a part of its “Coventry Sub-Division” (see Map #8). Also, East Monmouth Road originally was
planned to connect directly to Monmouth Road but was moved a little south, carving off another sliver of Shaker farmland
that was sold to another developer. Finally, approximately 70 lots lying between the Euclid Golf Historic District and
Shaker Farm are excluded, because this section was sold off to another developer. The residences constructed on these
lots generally are not consistent architecturally with those in Euclid Golf or Shaker Farm, consisting of single-family homes
on smaller lots and many side-by-side two-family homes, which were prohibited in the surrounding districts.

Curvilinear streets in the western portion of the District give way to a rectilinear grid east of Lee Road (see Photos #1-3
and Map #1). In general, lots west of Lee Road are around an acre in size, with some exceeding two acres. Lots east of
Lee are typically 60 feet by 218 feet — about a third of an acre. While some streets continue into adjacent developments,
others dead-end, making the District a partially self-contained, exclusive entity.

Fairmount Boulevard was envisioned as the District's grand boulevard, taking up 125 feet from property line to property
line on opposite sides of the street. As planned, Fairmount has twin 24-feet-wide roadways divided by a 25-feet-wide
grass median to accommodate a single-track electric streetcar line, which operated from Cedar Road to Lee Road from
1907 to 1948, then on from Lee to Canterbury Road from 1929 to 1948. The right-of-way also included 6-feet-wide sawed
stone sidewalks on both sides of the road set back by 18.5-feet-wide tree lawns, as grass sidewalk strips are commonly
called in Cleveland (See Exhibit #2). Streets off Fairmount in the central portion of the District take up 60 feet between
property lines on opposite sides of the street. This includes 26 feet of roadbed, with five feet of sidewalk and 11 feet of
tree lawn on each side of the roadway. The streets east of Lee occupy 50 feet between opposite property lines, similarly
divided between a central roadbed with tree lawns and sidewalks. As previously noted, many of the original stone
sidewalks throughout the District remain intact a century after they were laid. North Park Boulevard is a 50-feet right-of-
way that marks the northern boundary of the Shaker Lakes Park. It lacks sidewalks because the park has trails, but
almost all of the other streets have sidewalks and tree lawns on both sides.

All the homes in the District are designed for single family occupancy. However, a great many — if not all — provided space
for live-in servants, which could be anything from a single maid to a couple who worked and maybe even raised their own
children in the home. Servant quarters ranged from the upper story of a carriage house or rooms above attached garages,
often the upper stories of L-shaped extensions on the back of houses, to rooms on third floors that sometimes also have
ballrooms. Nowadays, carriage houses and separate servant apartments are often rented to students or other tenants.
Many homes had systems to summons servants, and in some instances the buzzers and bells still remain. A second
functional stairway from upper stories to the kitchen is often a sign that the house once had servants.

The homes west of Lee Road are almost all larger architect-designed homes. In addition to servant quarters and the usual
living room, dining room, kitchens, bedrooms, bathrooms and basements, these houses often have libraries, solariums,
sleeping porches or loggias, as well as ballrooms. Side or rear porches for summer lounging are very common; some are
enclosed for year-round use. The homes east of Lee are generally smaller and less grand, with fewer amenities. A few
east of Lee are from catalogues, but the vast majority are also architect-designed.

The District’s houses reflect the eclecticism prevalent in early twentieth-century domestic architecture. Dominant
architectural styles are the Colonial Revival, Medieval Revival and Picturesque. The Colonial Revival homes are mainly
English in derivation and are further subcategorized as Georgian or New England. However, the Colonial Revival homes
also include less frequent examples of French, Dutch, German and Spanish or other Mediterranean Styles. The Medieval
Revival Styles are subcategorized as Tudor, Jacobean, Elizabethan and English-and-Cotswold Cottage. Examples of
Picturesque Style homes in the District may be Craftsman, Arts & Crafts, Bungaloid or Foursquare. Classical Revival
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homes are rare, but include one that exhibits Greek Revival characteristics, for example. Finally, many homes in the
District are simply Eclectic Blends with various elements of the previously listed styles.

The dominant building materials are brick, clapboard, stucco and shingles. Brick is used in a greater proportion of the
residences west of Lee Road, while wood siding dominates east of Lee. The hand-colored map produced by the G.M.
Hopkins Company in 1927 illustrates this quite clearly, as brick homes are tinted pink, and frame or stucco homes are
tinted yellow. (See Map #9.) The quality of brick used in construction is just one example of the quality of materials used
in homes in the District. For example, the home at 2880 Fairfax Road is featured in The Brickbuilder, October 1912; the
article highlights its “rough textured wire-cut brick having a wide range of colors, laid with a wide flush-cut mortar joint.”
Bricks used in the District are varied in color and carefully laid to provide variety, texture and pattern. In some homes,
clapboard has been covered over with vinyl or aluminum siding, and some original windows have been replaced, but most
are original. Asphalt is the most common roofing material in the District at present, in almost all cases replacing what were
wood shingle roofs originally, though some slate roofs have also been covered over. In the past several years, a few
homeowners have brought back wood shingle roofing, in one case with an elaborate false thatch. Slate roofs are well
represented, especially on the homes west of Lee Road. The District also has some attractive red tile roofs.

All the homes built during the period of significance have garages hidden away, almost always behind the house, either
attached or detached. Starting late in the nineteenth century, Cleveland was a leading early producer of a variety of
automobiles, including the Winton, Peerless, Stearns, Baker electric and White steam automobiles, which were produced
in the thousands at most for the upper-class market. In fact, the American automotive market as a whole is said to have
begun in Cleveland with the first standard model Winton in 1898. Cleveland lost the lead to Detroit after Ford started
producing the Model T for the middie class in 1908. As production of Model Ts grew into the hundreds of thousands
annually after 1913, Cleveland became the second largest center of the automotive industry in the United States with the
rise of parts manufacturing in the 1910s and 1920s. The 1927 G.M. Hopkins Company map of the District shows garages,
either attached or detached, for virtually all houses (see Map #9).

Given Cleveland's history and the affluence of the original owners, the presence of garages in this neighborhood is not
surprising. Some of the original garages were built for three or even four cars. A few of the detached garages appear to
have originally been single-car garages. These were generally later expanded for two or even three cars. About three
quarters of the detached garages appear to have original construction that either still stands alone or set the style for later
expansions to accommodate another car. What distinguishes original garages from later replacements in general is a
support on the facade dividing the garage so that the parts of the garage have separate garage doors. Another feature of
the original garages is that the entrances are tall, because the design of early automobiles was based on the tall carriages
that provided the previous mode of transportation. With the exception of SUVs and a few other tall cars, today’s
automobiles have lower profiles and centers of gravity for greater stability compared with cars of the Shaker Farm era. In
general — but not always — a single garage door that is two-cars wide on the garage of a contributing residence signifies a
replacement of the original garage. Because garages were hidden behind homes, replacements generally do not detract
from the authentic look and feel of residences in the District constructed during the period of significance. The fashion for
having a prominent garage attached to the side or front of the house is only found in the District in the few houses built in
the later 1940s or thereafter, and in one unusual remodeling.

Following are explanations of the main architectural styles found in the District, as well as descriptions of characteristic
examples of each. Also included are reports of less common but noteworthy examples demonstrating the wide range of
styles architects drew upon to satisfy the tastes of their well-to-do clients. Some examples of other resources found in the
district, including a school, garages, a carriage house and a church follow the descriptions of the various architectural
styles of homes below. A full listing of resources, with their classification by architectural style and contributing or
noncontributing status, can be found in Exhibit #1.

Colonial Revival Styles: English

The English Colonial Revival Styles that emerged in the 1880s in the wake of America’s Centennial celebrations proved to
have enduring popularity as pride in America's past grew. Architects borrowed from early American architecture to create
homes that were larger and more modern on the interior than the originals but represented a commitment to preserving
our country's history. o

Reflecting national trends, English Colonial Revival styles are the most common in the District, with 95 examples classified
simply as Colonial Revival and more than 25 examples of the Georgian Revival style. Homes S|mply labeled Colonial
Revival in the spreadsheet accompanying this application (Exhibit #1) are especially prevalent in the somewhat more
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modest homes on the streets east of Lee. The grander residences west of Lee Road include examples classified as
Colonial Revival but are more apt to be either Georgian Revival or blends of Colonial with other styles.

Colonial Revival

An example of a Colonial Revival home with many characteristic features is the residence that Walker & Weeks designed
at 3173 Fairmount Boulevard. Constructed in 1919, it is a two-and-a-half story clapboard house with louvered shutters
on the second story. Its classic features include a paneled front door accentuated by an arched entry porch that is
supported by slender columns. The door has decorative leaded-glass sidelights. The fagade has symmetrically balanced
windows and a center door. The windows, in adjacent triplets on the first floor and separated pairs on the second floor,
have double-hung sashes with six-pane glazing in the upper sashes and one pane in the lower sashes. The side-gabled
roof has an intersecting gable on the right with a fanlight window on the third floor. On the left of the roof is a dormer with
casement windows and a curved window crown that echoes the front entrance. The flat-roofed, screened side-porch on
the right, with balustrade atop, is entirely characteristic of the District, in that many homes have side porches. (See Photo
#4.)

Dercum & Beer designed the red-brick Colonial Revival residence at 2613 Wellington Road that was built in 1914. The
front door of this two-and-a-half story house is accentuated by a pediment extended forward and supported by round
columns to form an entry porch. Its fagade features symmetrically balanced windows, with adjacent pairs on the first floor
and matched large and small pairs on the second floor, with the larger second-floor windows flanked by louvered shutters.
The double-hung sashes are multi-pane atop and single-pane below, and the front door is also multi-pane. The home has
a covered side entrance on the left and a flat-roofed porch on the right with railing and exposed beams. The hipped roof
has a side gable on the left and an interior chimney on the right. (See Photo #5.)

Henry Hradilek designed the two-and-a-half story clapboard Colonial Revival home at 2632 Exeter Road, which was
constructed in 1916. This house has the usual symmetrically balanced windows and center door an its facade, but the
windows are separate in this example, and there are no shutters. With the exception of a single-paned double-hung sash
above the front door, the double-hung sashes have six-pane glazing in the upper sashes and single-pane glazing in the
lower sashes. The decorative crown above the front door extends forward and is supported by round columns to form an
entry porch. The glass-paned front door has transom and sidelights. The flat-roofed enclosed side porch is on the left this
time. (See Photo #6.)

A final example of a classic Colonial Revival home is the dark-tan-brick, two-and-a-half story home designed by Steffens &
Steffens with slate side-gabled roof that was built in 1918 at 2722 Scarborough Road. A fan under the pedimented
portico, supported by pilasters, accentuates the central front door. Individual 12-light windows are placed symmetrically on
either side of the door on the first floor of the fagade. On the second floor, paneled shutters flank a smaller window
centered above the door and two symmetrically placed, larger windows on the front. Second-floor windows have multi-
pane glazing on upper sashes and single-panes on lower sashes. (See Photo #7.)

Georgian Revival ;

The cornice emphasized by dentils on the residence at 2488 Marlboro Road is an important feature identifying this house
as Georgian, a sub-category of the English Colonial Revival Styles. This two-and-a-half story red-brick home was
designed by William Striebinger and built in 1913. The central front door capped by an elaborate decorative crown
supported by decorative pilasters, as well as windows aligned horizontally and vertically in symmetrical rows also
characterize this structure as Georgian, though the fan light above the door is usually an Adam feature. The three dormers
on the front of the side-gabled roof have Georgian features such as pilasters and arched windows. The two-story, flat-
roofed bay on the right side and enclosed porch on the left side of this house lack the symmetry usually association with
the Georgian style, but the overall impression is Georgian. Windows on the main structure have louvered shutters. (See
Photo #8.)

The two-and-a-half story red-brick Georgian at 2489 Arlington Road, designed by Maurer & Mills and built in 1913, has a
characteristic paneled front door, centered and capped by a triangular pediment with dentils, as well as leaded sidelights.
The horizontally and vertically aligned windows in symmetrical rows have louvered shutters. The side-gabled roof has
three front dormers, two capped with triangular pediments aside a central, segmental-capped dormer. Windows are
varied, including decorative leaded-glass casements and double-hung six- over single-pane sashes| Unlike the previous
example, which had stone lintels above the windows, this one has stone windowsills. Side porches are almost ubiquitous
:;1 hthis neighborhood, and this one is enclosed with clapboard and windows and has a balustrade around its flat roof. (See
oto #9.) i
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The two-story red-brick Georgian with side-gabled roof at 2929 Fairfax Road was designed by Willard Hirsh and built in
1914. It has classic elements such as a paneled door, decorative cornice, and the common, five-ranked, horizontally and
vertically aligned windows in symmetrical rows on the front fagade. The Doric end-post pilasters seem designed to
support the cornice. The double-hung sashes with six-pane glazing on the upper sash and single-pane glazing on the
lower sashes are common in this neighborhood. The paneled shutters have a cut-out crescent moon at the top. This
example has stone lintels and windowsills for each window on the main fagade. Unusual for a Georgian house is the flat
roof above the front door projecting forward and supported by slender Doric, fluted columns to form a porch surmounted
by an ornate metal balustrade above. This house also has a flat-roofed five-sided two-story bay on the right side of the
house and a one-story flat-roofed screened porch topped by a metalwork balustrade on the left. (See Photo #10.)

2513 Marlboro Road is a very grand Georgian with eclectic architectural features. Designed by Charles S. Schneider and
built in 1926, this two-story red-brick mansion has a slate, hipped roof. The paneled door in the somewnhat off-center, two-
story entrance is surrounded above with an Adam semicircular fanlight and on either side with decorated sidelights. The
entrance has two slender columns supporting the cornice before an unusual recessed entry porch. The windows with
multi-pane double-hung sashes are aligned horizontally and vertically in symmetrical rows, though those on the left are on
a projecting gable, and a large arched window to the right of the entrance disrupts the symmetry. Windows on the second
floor have authentic louvered shutters. Landscaping to the front includes a brick knee wall with concrete steps surrounded
by planting beds and mature trees. (See Photo #11.)

New England Colonial Revival

The residence at 2604 Ashton Road is yet another example of an English Colonial Revival Style, this one with a decidedly
New England flavor. Designed by E.A. Ruggles and built in 19186, this two-and-a-half story, clapboard-sided home with
side-gabled roof has the characteristic accentuated front door with sidelights, and decorative pediment extended forward
and supported by round columns to form an entry porch. The fagade shows symmetrically balanced windows and a
central paneled door. The windows have double-hung sashes with multi-pane glazing on both sashes. Louvered shutters
flanking the windows complement the clapboard on this house. (See Photo #12.)

Colonial Revival Styles: French, Dutch, German, Spanish

A variety of other immigrant groups established readily identifiable stylistic models for architectural design. While models
set by English precedents are by far the most popular in the District, French influence is evident in more than a dozen of
the homes in the District, Spanish and other Mediterranean in about ten and Dutch in another ten. German influences are
clear in a half dozen dwellings.

French Revival (Elements)

The two-story residence at 2572 Stratford Road, designed by Meade & Hamilton and constructed in 1913, exemplifies
characteristic features of the revived French Colonial style. Its stucco walls, steeply pitched hipped and ridged roof, and
window openings with paired shutters on the second floor are key elements giving this home its overall French Colonial
look. However, the doorway, with its Georgian line of transom lights, English Colonial Revival sidelights and Craftsman
partial-width porch roof supported by brackets testify to the eclecticism of this home. A slightly projecting bay on the first
floor has three adjacent windows with multi-pane double-hung sashes, complemented by all the other multi-pane windows
on this house. (See Photo #13.)

The much grander and striking three-story stucco residence at 2557 North Park Boulevard, which was designed by Hugh
Seaver and constructed in 1924, is in a simplified Chateauesque style. Its steeply pitched slate hipped and ridged roof is
characteristically busy, with multipie hipped-roof dormers, and projecting bays with hipped roofs symmetrically placed on
either end of the fagade. The house has a variety of multi-pane windows with paired shutters, louvered on the bottom with
board with lancet cutout on top, on the first and second floors. The two-story round-top window on the facade lights an
interior stairway. The front door has two adjacent glass panes atop to see in and out and is accentuated by a flat-roofed
£$rc;1 extending forward and supported by round columns. On the right is a one-story enclosed side porch. (See Photo

4.

Dutch Colonial Revival

The two-story shingled Dutch Colonial Revival residence at 3309 Fairmount Boulevard was designed by William J. Gill
and builtin 1919. Its characteristic steeply pitched gambrel roof has a continuous dormer across the front, an
arrangement never found in original Dutch Colonials. The centered, paneled front door has sidelights and is accentuated
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by a curved porch roof extending forward and supported by slender square, fluted columns. The paired windows on the
second floor and triple windows on the first floor clearly signify a Colonial Revival house, as windows on the colonial
originals were never paired or tripled. However, the double-hung sashes with six panes per sash are consistent with the
originals. (See Photo #15.)

The architect of the distinctive red-brick Dutch Colonial Revival home at 2584 Lee Road is unknown. The house was built
in 1922. Its slate roof with side, crow-stepped parapeted gable ends with paired end chimneys is characteristic of Dutch
Colonial urban architecture. Less characteristic are the three arched-top dormers on the front roof. Below the roof, the
house looks quite English Colonial Revival, with an accentuated paneled front door surrounded by sidelights. Supports
hold up the hipped porch roof, and windows are arranged symmetrically on the fagade. The house has one-story flat-
roofed extensions on both sides. The one on the right was originally an open porch and is likely a later addition, one that
does not detract from the overall integrity and unique charm of this home. (See Photo #16.)

German Colonial Revival

The gables capped by hips suggest Continental rather than British precedents for the two-and-a-half story German
influenced Colonial Revival residence at 2542 Guilford Road. Builtin 1910 with an unknown architect, this shingle-sided
home features prominent, steeply pitched cross gables. These features give this house its Germanic Cottage look. This
residence has a variety of windows, some multi-paned. The porch is enclosed on the first floor of the cross gable. (See
Photo #17.)

Spanish Colonial Revival and Other Mediterranean

Harry Z. Shupe designed the two-story California Spanish Colonial residence built at 2489 Stratford Road in 1916. Its
red, mission-tile roof and the arch above the front door beneath the porch roof are distinguishing characteristics of
Spanish-style homes. This house also sports a hipped, ridged roof, stucco wall surface and asymmetrical fagade. Houses
in this style are rare outside of southern states; this is the only one of its type in the Shaker Farm Historic District. As was
common in domestic buildings of Spanish precedent built before 1920, this house is a free adaption of the Mission style.
(See Photo #18.)

The ltalian Renaissance residence at 2992 Monmouth Road was designed by Frederick W. Striebinger and built in 1915.
This home has characteristic Italian Renaissance features such as a low-pitched hipped roof covered by red pantiles,
widely overhanging boxed eaves supported by decorative brackets, stucco walls, quoins, the first-story balcony with
casement windows, and entrance area accented by pilasters. It represents one of the relatively small portion of Italian
Renaissance houses with unbalanced, asymmetrical facades. This example of the genre has a two-story half-cylinder bay
projecting forward from the center of the fagade, with a paneled front door to form the entrance, which is surmounted by a
balcony with wrought-iron railing and casement windows. The home has a porte-cochere on the left side. (See Photo
#19.)

Medieval Revival Styles

As a group, Medieval Revival Styles, including Tudor, Jacobean, Elizabethan Revival, and English-and-Cotswold Cottage,
are the second most popular architectural styles in the District, after the various Colonial Revival forms. More than 28
residences in the District are classified purely as Tudor Revival, and another nine are listed purely as Jacobean Revival.
Almost a dozen are listed purely as English or Cotswold Cottage, and three are classified as Elizabethan Revival. Various
other homes blend features of these Medieval Revival Styles into their architectural elements.

Tudor

The brick and half-timbered residence at 2524 Arlington Road designed by Meade & Hamilton and built in 1916 is a good
example of the Tudor genre and of these architects’ work. The roof is hipped, which is less common in Tudor homes than
side-gabled roofs. However, the cross gable that dominates the fagade, decorative half-timbering, tall narrow windows in
multiple groups with multi-pane glazing, false thatch roof and large chimneys crowned by chimney pots are clearly
identifying features of the Tudor style. The three-story semi-hexagonal bay below the cross gable is a typical Tudor
arrangement. The front entrance treatment is eclectic, though the flattened arch above the paneled door is a frequently
used Tudor touch. The carving on the vergeboards, decorations on the plaster, and medallion where the vergeboards
meet are manifestations of the careful attention to detail for which Meade & Hamilton are known. (See Photo #20.)

Also constructed in 1916 in the Tudor Style is the stucco and half-timbered residence at 2544 Wellmgton Road which was
designed by Frederick W. Striebinger. Its roof is gabled at one end and hipped at the other, and the cross gable on the
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fagade forms a projecting overhang above the doorway. A pair of small hipped dormers on the roof to the left of the front
cross gable evoke the asymmetry typical of medieval architecture. This example lacks the massive chimney typical of
Tudor homes. The entrance is slightly recessed, as the overhanging projecting cross gable forms a porch roof. The
flattened arch above the window and over the glass-paned front door on the projecting cross gable are frequently used
Tudor devices, as are the grouped windows. Both the main entrance door and the window above it have decorative
sidelights. The windows on the first floor have brick surrounds. Windows are mostly multi-paned sashes but the dormer
casement leaded windows have diamond-shaped glass. (See Photo #21.)

The Tudor Revival residence at 2542 Stratford Road was designed by Harlen E. Shimmin and built in 1919. The front
entrance of this house actually faces on Monmouth Road, and the house is shaped to conform to its corner lot with a
diagonal wall facing the corner. The hipped ridge roof is contoured to resemble thatch and punctuated by dormers, cross
gables and several chimneys with decorated chimney pots. The house has stucco-and-wooden half-timbering and
decorative elements on the vergeboards. This large, attractive home has multiple types of windows, from multi-pane
sashes to casements. (See Photo #22.)

A large chimney with multiple shafts and copper, decorated chimney pots on the street-facing side is a striking feature of
the Tudor Revival residence at 2510 Stratford Road, which was designed by Meade & Hamilton and constructed in 1919.
The main entrance faces north (sideway) on this house, into a large garden where a house stood facing the street until
2009, when it was demolished. The tiled roof is complex, with dormers, gables, projecting bay and hips. Half-timbering
decorates the east side. The windows are leaded, in a variety of types. Among other eclectic features, the owners added
a roof-top cupola in 2009 and in 2010 are placing a sizable addition with a tower on the west side of the house which faces
the back of the lot, as well as a new multi-car garage with rooms above beyond the tower and facing Stratford Road.
Although the original structure remains intact, these alterations are somewhat visible from the street, and significantly
increase the footprint of buildings on the lot. Because they use materials and design consistent with the original structure,
they complement rather than destroy the integrity of the original. Also, the first impression of this home from Stratford
Road is of the original residence; the recent additions are behind and only noticed secondarily. (See Photo #23.)

Jacobean

Dercum & Beer designed the Jacobean residence at 2452 Lamberton Road. Built in 1916, this red-brick home features
fagade detailing of Renaissance inspiration. The flattened arch above the glass-paned door and entry porch is
characteristic of this genre. The hipped roof with a ridge features projecting gables on either side, producing the varied
eave-line heights that are also characteristic. Tall chimneys stand up on either side of the house. This large residence
has a variety of windows, from a row of four leaded windows centered on the front of the house to a group of three multi-
pane over single-pane sashes on the second floor. The hipped roof of the porte-cochere echoes the roof on the house
and leads to a detached three-car garage in the back yard. (See Photo #24.)

The architect for the Jacobean/Tudor home with the address of 2466 Coventry Road is unknown. Built in 1923, the
ornate metal grille on the front entrance of this residence faces on Colchester Road. The Colchester view features a front-
facing parapeted gable to the right that appears to rise above the roof behind, a characteristic feature of Jacobean houses.
The first floor of this gable has a projecting bay window with multi-pane casement windows. To the left of this gable on the
roof is a shed roofed dormer. Much of the fagade is a tan-colored stone with tan brick around some windows, but half-
timbering — somewhat unusual in the Jacobean style — is also used. To the left of the front entrance, a projecting, half-
timbered, front-facing gable with a carved vergeboard overhangs first-floor windows. Windows are tall casements on the
first floor, and multi-pane sashes on the second floor. A screened porch on the Coventry-facing side of the house is more
than offset by the original garage with hipped roof, attached to the home by an original covered breezeway that stands to
the left on the Colchester-facing side of the house. (See Photo #25.)

Elizabethan Revival

The residence at 2465 Arlington, which actually faces on Fairfax Road, is suggestive of a simple but quaintly picturesque
Elizabethan cottage. Designed by Bohnard & Parsons and built in 1916, this side-gabled house has wooden wall cladding
and a variety of multi-pane sashes and casement windows. The front-facing gable, to the right of the paneled front door is
topped with vergeboard that continues down past the gable over the roof on the right. A couple of hipped dormers, a
smaller side gable on the Arlington-facing side of the house, and a flared roof on the left also contribute to the complicated
roof typical of Elizabethan — and Tudor — homes. Other common details include the second-story overhang to the left of
the doorway and the small size of the front-fagade entry porch. A bay window may have been added to the north side of
the house facing the driveway, but it is invisible from any street views of the home. (See Photo #26.)
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English Cottage and Cotswold Cottage

The two-story red-brick home at 2880 Fairfax Road was designed by Dercum & Beer and built in 1912 in the Cotswold or
English Country Cottage style, variations of the Tudor Revival style. The Cotswold region is in southwestern England.
Features of this home that are typical of the style are a sloping complex roof, brick siding, cross gables, brick chimneys,
asymmetrical design, and sloping walls with dormers in rooms on the upper floor. The front-projecting gable has half-
timbering on the second floor and is supported by brick columns on the first floor to form a front porch with a segmental
arch. Sidelights accentuate the multi-pane front door, which has four small owl statues atop its lintel. (See Photo #27.)

Picturesque Styles

The Picturesque movement began in England as a reaction to the formal classical ideals in art and architecture that were
fashionable for about 200 years. One manifestation of this was Arts and Crafts, a late 19th-century movement to revive
handicrafts. Arts and Crafts architecture sought a spiritual connection with the surrounding environment, both natural and
manmade. In the United States, Old World prototypes were variously modified, adapted and embellished into truly
indigenous styles with only hints to earlier origins. The Craftsman and Prairie styles were American manifestations of the
Arts and Crafts movement.

Arts and Crafts, or Craftsman, houses often have exterior features such as wood, stone, or stucco siding; low-pitched roof;
wide eaves with triangular brackets; exposed roof rafters; porch with thick square or round columns; stone porch supports;
exterior chimney made with stone; numerous windows; and some windows with stained or leaded glass. Craftsman
features are mostly found in the more modestly priced homes in the Historic District east of Lee; we cite 30 homes in
which Craftsman features are prominent. In the grander, more expensive homes west of Lee, we see prominent
architectural references to the English Arts and Crafts style, either alone or in combination with other styles, in more than
40 residences. This represents a modest class distinction.

Craftsman (Elements)

The Craftsman Style emphasizes structure and material and overall conveys a kind of honesty and virtue that bespoke
contemporary American themes. The Craftsman home at 2577 Dartmoor Road, designed by J. Wentworth Smith and
built in 1919, is red brick on the first floor with shingles on the second floor. The residence actually has a Tudor reference
in the asphalt false thatch roof. The small eyebrow dormer centered in the side-gabled roof compliments the shingle
siding. Decisively, the wide eaves, many windows, and the brackets supporting the overhanging porch bespeak the
Craftsman style. (See Photo #28.)

Arts & Crafts

The Arts & Crafts movement was the first phase of the Modern movement in English domestic architecture. Deliberately
turning its back on historical precedent for decoration and design, ornamentation was “modernized” to remove most traces
of its historic origins. Low-pitched roofs with wide eave overhangs were favored.

The red-brick home at 2611 Guilford Road was designed in the Arts & Crafts style by Walker & Weeks and built in 1915.
The wide eaves to the slate roof and the vertical structure of the windows on the first floor mirrored in the arrangement of
sidelights and horizontal window around the paneled and centered front door are the most prominent Arts & Crafts
features of this home. The side entrance echoes the vertical Arts & Crafts look of the first-floor window and main entrance.
A multi-window shed dormer on the roof, tall chimneys, and functionally-sized louvered shutters aside the second-floor
single-pane sashes complete the structural and decorative elements of this house. (See Photo #29.)

The stucco Arts & Crafts inspired home at 2988 Monmouth Road was designed by Meade & Hamilton and built in 1915.
This residence, with its tall channeled brick chimneys and unpedimented main entrance, for example, has some Tudor
references, but they are interpreted in a stylized way that confirms the Arts & Crafts designation. The relatively low-
pitched, hipped roof and bracket-supported window-box beneath the second-story ribbon windows on the front-projecting
hipped gable lend an Arts & Crafts feel, as does the decorative trellis beside the doorway. The queins on either side of the
entrance and second-story window above the trellis emphasize these important features. (See Photo #30.)

The Arts & Crafts home at 3009 Fairfax Road was designed by Franz C. Warner and built in 1913. This red-brick, side-
gabled home is currently owned by an architect who has made modifications. Above the first-floor bpen porch, what was
originally an open, cantilevered porch on the second floor has been glassed in, adding extra space and light to this house
during Cleveland’s dark winter months. Aside from the installation of the transparent glass “picture windows,” this upstairs
porch is unmodified structurally, so that the overall integrity of the original design remains intact. The thick round porch
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columns, overhanging roof, and the grouping of windows topped by a small square window tilted on one corner on the
front-facing projecting gable are Arts & Crafts features. Referring to English traditions, the chimneys on either side of the
house are crowned with decorative chimney pots. (See Photo #31.)

Craftsman/Foursquare )

The architect of the Craftsman/Foursquare home at 2636 Ashton Road is unknown. This house was built in 1912. It has
wood siding on the second floor above decorative brown brickwork on the first floor. The sweep of and the pendant on the
eave of the porch pediment gable with its low-pitched roof, echoed directly above in a steeper gabled dormer, are
Craftsman features, as are the round columns on the brick porch balustrade. Setting the house on a raised basement with
the first floor approached by steps, and running the veranda almost the full width of the first story are classic Foursquare
features. The triangular knee braces under the side-gabled roof are typical of some Craftsman houses. The red tile roof is
rather unusual but provides a link to the California origins of Craftsman residences. Windows are many and varied, but
include multi-pane sashes over sashes with one large glass pane, a popular feature in this style and generally in the
Historic District. (See Photo #32.)

Classical Revival

Greek Revival (Elements)

Classical Revival homes are few but noteworthy in the Shaker Farm Historic District. As just one example, according to
neighborhood tradition, the name for Arlington Road was adopted after the home at 2481 Arlington Road was built in
1909. This residence is said to be a smaller-scale version of the Custis-Lee Mansion at Arlington Cemetery in Arlington,
Virginia, just outside Washington, D.C. It was the first home on the street. The developers originally planned to call this
street Leicester Road. The architect is unknown. The clapboard-sided home is front-gabled with only four Greek, robust,
fluted columns on its portico (compared with the Custis-Lee Mansion's eight columns), and details of the pediment over
these columns differ in these two structures, but the resemblance nonetheless exists. The residence at 2481 Arlington has
Classical features such as leaded sidelights and an elliptical fanlight over its paneled front door. Shutters adorn the five-
ranked symmetrical windows with six-pane upper and single-pane lower sashes on the front of the house behind the
columns. With no side appendages, this house simply resembles a Greek temple — but one with windows and other
Colonial features mixed in. (See Photo #33.)

Eclectic Blends

Classifying the architectural styles of homes in the Shaker Farm Historic District is challenging, because they are rarely
pure examples of the popular architectural styles of the day. Often, the homes are blends of shapes, materials, detailing
or other features, as the following examples demonstrate.

Arts & Crafts and Tudor Revival

The tan-brick home at 2541 Arlington Road was designed by Harlen E. Shimmin and built in 1910. Prominent Tudor
features include the steep side-gabled roof with two projecting front-facing gables, large chimneys and half-timbering.
Prominent Arts & Crafts features include the red-tile roof, detailing on the vergeboards, and square brick columns on the
front and side porches. This large home has a variety of windows. It was the central element in a family compound that
included the houses on either side, at 2542 Stratford Road (see Tudor section above) and 2505 Arlington Road (see
contributing carriage house description below). (See Photo #34.)

Another example blending the Arts & Crafts and Tudor styles is the house at 2583 Wellington Road that was designed by
Reynold Hinsdale and constructed in 1923. Prominent Tudor features of this home include the side-gabled roof with false
thatching, red-brick first-story walls contrasted with decorative half-timbering on the second floor, multi-pane lead glazing
in the windows, and the round-arched doorway. Prominent Arts & Crafts features include the wide eave overhang, some
triangular knee braces supporting the overhanging second floor, and the side porch with its curved arch that echoes the
simplified arches over the door. The house has a paneled front door. (See Photo #35.)

Arts & Crafts and English Country |

The red-brick home at 2494 Stratford Road was designed by John H. Graham and constructed in 1915. It has a hipped
roof with ridge. Prominent English Country features include the asymmetrical, sloping roof-line of the front-projecting
gable, tall chimneys, and tall narrow windows in multiple groups, three-dimensional fagade and false thatching. Prominent
Arts & Crafts elements include the wide eaves with triangular brackets on the forward-projecting g?ble and elsewhere, the
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structure of the ribbon windows and the curved shape of the pediment between the porch support columns. To make the
mix more complex, the round-arched window beside the front door is rather Italianate. (See Photo #36.)

Arts & Crafts and Bungaloid

The Arts & Crafts/Bungaloid home at 2560 Stratford Road was designed by Reamer & Vorce and built in 1915. This one-
and-a-half story, tan-brick residence is unusual in a neighborhood where two- or two-and-a-half story homes predominate,
and Colonial and Medieval Revival styles are favored. lts low-pitched, ridge-hipped, red-tile roof has characteristic wide
eaves ornamented and supported by brackets. The distinctive, gently arched windows artistically combining multi-pane
and plate glass, echoed in the rounded dormers symmetrically placed on the roof, also have an Arts & Crafts look, as do
the simplified, though fairly prominent, chimneys. However, the arched glass-paneled front door with no porch roof has a
Tudor look. (See Photo #37.)

Tudor Eclectic

The brick home at 2859 Fairfax Road was designed by Harlen E. Shimmin and built in 1917. Characteristic Tudor
features include the false thatch roof which is hipped and ridged, the fagade dominated by a prominent cross gable
decorated with half timbering that overhangs the front entry porch, and the tall chimney. However, the bay of windows on
the first floor fagade are not in the tall, narrow style normally associated with the Tudor style, and the large covered front
entry porch bespeaks other styles. (See Photo #38.)

Eclectic

Some houses are such a mixture of styles that none is dominant. The red-brick home at 2989 North Woodland Road,
designed by Harlen E. Shimmin and constructed in 1915, is a prime example of borrowing features from many styles.
Tudor elements include some false thatching, and the pots on the chimneys. The varied windows and the wide
overhanging eaves draw from several styles. The front porch has Craftsman details. This house is handsome and
impressive, but it isn't clearly any style. (See Photo #39.)

Another example that is simply labeled eclectic is the shingle-clad home at 3289 East Monmouth Road designed by Asa
W. Hudson and built in 1917. Its Colonial Revival elements are shown with its louvered shutters and shed dormer.
Shingle Style is exhibited with its shingled siding and asymmetrical facade. Craftsman elements include its six-pane over
single-pane double-hung sashes, stout plain columns and simple pedimented porch, and ribbon windows in the shed
dormer. (See Photo #40.)

French Eclectic

The French Eclectic red-brick home at 2491 Marlboro Road was designed by Abram Garfield and constructed in 1928.
Identifying features include the tall, steeply pitched hipped and ridged slate roof, with the eaves flared upward at roof-wall
junction. The main entrance is through a hip-roofed wing on the right side of the house, and behind that an octagonal
tower with a high, conical roof is just visible from the street. These arrangements are examples of the sideways
orientation noted in some other houses in the historic District. The entryway features arched openings, and multi-pane
sashes are flanked by louvered shutters, both of which are characteristic of this style. The arched-top dormers are
common in this style but more apt to go through the cornice. The chimneys resemble those of other samples of this genre.
The brickwork on this house has a subtle geometric design. (See Photo #41.)

Georgian Eclectic Schools

The two, red-brick Roxboro Schools were built a few years apart in a Georgian Eclectic style. One of these schools is a
public elementary school for students in kindergarten through fifth grade in the Cleveland Heights University Heights City
School District, and the other is a public middle school for students in grades six through eight in the same district. Aside
from the two large school buildings, the property has playgrounds at the elementary school and, behind the middle school,
parking lots for cars and bicycles, a couple of tennis courts, a couple of baseball fields, a track with central playing field
and bleachers, and a large shed beside the fields for maintenance equipment. For purposes of description, we will focus
on Roxboro Middle School (formerly Roxboro Junior High School), built in 1925. Located at 2400 Roxboro Road, the
architect is unknown but clearly took the lead from Roxboro Elementary School, built a few years earlier in 1921 at 2405
Roxboro Road with Franz Warner as architect. The Georgian features of Roxboro Middle School include a centered front
entrance with windows on both sides aligned horizontally and vertically in symmetrical rows. The entrance adopts a
neoclassical style with its elaborate full-height entry porch with four columns and a decorative crown pediment that
includes tooth-like dentils. This porch is superimposed on three entry arches, with windows above each arch. The side-
hipped roof is topped with a cupola. The building has a trapezoidal shape with stone panels on the far sides of the facade
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with Beaux Arts features such are decorative garlands above ground-floor arched false windows with decorative pilasters
and crown. Windows in this school and its neighbor were replaced to reduce energy costs but have a multi-pane look that
is consistent with the originals. Also, some contemporary additions have been made to the rear of the building, but these
do not detract from the Georgian Eclectic impression one gains when approaching the front of this building. (See Photo
#42.)

Secondary Buildings
Representative Contributing Detached Garage

The garage at 2541 Arlington Road is visible from Monmouth Road and serves as a representative example of the 180
detached contributing garages in the District, in that it is designed using similar style, materials and scale to the residence
it is associated with. This three-car garage is built of tan bricks and has a red-tile roof, matching the materials and
architectural style of the close-by residence, which was built in 1919 and is described above under “Eclectic Blends.” The
current owners have maintained the original character of this large home, inside as well as out. They have been in contact
with descendants of the original owner to verify the authenticity of the home and this outbuilding. (See Photo #43.)

Representative Non-Contributing Detached Garage

This garage at 2641 Exeter Road is a representative example of the 53 non-contributing detached garages in the Shaker
Farm Historic District. The distinguishing characteristics of these non-contributing garages are a two-car-wide garage door
and entrances that are generally lower than the original garages. Also, quite often the architectural style of the garage
does not match the architectural style of the residence at the same address. The home at 2641 Exeter was built in 1913 in
a Colonial Revival style. Replacement garages sometimes seem lower in quality than the homes associated with them —
more prefabricated, not architect-designed. It is quite likely, however, that the garages they are replacing had become
decrepit or perhaps burnt down. (See Photo #44.)

Representative Attached Garage

Because the Germanic Arts & Crafts residence at 2542 Guilford Road has a walkway from Monmouth Road to its front
door, this attached garage can be said to be behind, rather than beside, the house. This garage exemplifies the 131
contributing resources that include attached garages in the District. Such attached garages are typically constructed of the
same materials as the home and blend into the architectural design nicely. (See Photo #45.) The entire structure — home
and attached garage — was constructed in 1910. The second story above the attached garage has space for live-in
servants. The current owners rent this apartment out, as do some other owners in the District with similar apartments.
Another 16 attached garages in the District are non-contributing, either because they are attached to non-contributing
homes or were clearly added to contributing homes long after the period of significance.

Representative Contributing Carriage House

The style of contributing Shaker Farm Historic District carriage houses generally complements the residences they are
associated with. Some are large and impressive, as is this one. This grand carriage house behind 2505 Arlington Road
is almost invisible from the street. Its genuine outswing carriage garage doors open in the middle. The adjoining large
red-brick home was built in an Arts & Crafts style in 1924. Nowadays, carriage houses in the District are typically rented
out to students or other tenants. (See Photo #46.)

Religious Structure

Fairmount Presbyterian Church is on the map of and included in the Fairmount Boulevard District application that was
approved for the National Register of Historic Places in 1976. The Fairmount Boulevard application provides some
information about this church and also includes a picture of the church, which was first built at 2757 Fairmount Boulevard
in 1915 with modifications in the 1940s. Photo #47 of the Shaker Farm application shows that the church remains as it
was in 1976. It represents the commitment of the residents to maintain the quality of the architectural resources found in
the Shaker Farm Historic District.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

El A Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

|:| B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

E C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C abirthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or structure.

F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.)

Architecture

Community planning and development

Social History

Period of Significance
1906 - 1935

Significant Dates
1906

1907

1935

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder

Meade & Hamilton; Frederick W. Striebinger;
Harlen E. Shimmin; W. Asa Hudson; Henry
Hradilek; Dercum & Beer; Willard Hirsh; Walker &
Weeks; White & Shupe; E. J. Andrews; Bohnard &
Parsons; Maurer & Mills; Franz C. Warner,
Steffens & Steffens; Harold O. Fullerton; Fulton &
Taylor; Charles S. Schneider
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Period of Significance (justification)

The period of significance is 1906 to 1935, reflecting the association of the Van Sweringen brothers with the development
of the district. Oris Paxton (O.P.) and Mantis James (M.J.) Van Sweringen were instrumental in the successful
development of the Shaker Farm Historic District. Until they began marketing and selling properties in the District in 1905,
sales languished. Their sales pitch promised a community planned and rigidly controlled according to the highest
standards, and they also ensured streetcar service, which was essential at the time. The first house in the District was
built in 1906, so the period of significance begins in 1906. Soon the development skyrocketed. Between 1910 and 1919,
about two-thirds of the current addresses in the District were built upon, and most of the rest were constructed in the
1920s, with relatively few before 1910 and after 1929. Development of the District was guided by deed specifications and
restrictions that were set by the investors in the Shaker Heights Land Company, who preceded the Van Sweringens’
involvement in and ownership of properties. However, the Van Sweringens embraced these deed rules both in Shaker
Farm and later in the development of Shaker Heights. The result was creation of communities which were very desirable
for the upper crust and upper middle class. How much the Van Sweringens were involved with Shaker Farm after Shaker
Heights broke off from Cleveland Heights in 1911 is debatable, because by that time the Shaker Heights Improvement
Company had taken over Shaker Farm development. O.P Van Sweringen was Vice President of the Shaker Heights
Improvement Company for a couple of years at least but was later replaced. By 1911, the Van Sweringens had begun to
create numerous syndicates and subsidiaries, and it is impossible to know how involved the Van Sweringens remained in
these entities, which generally all had offices in the Williamson Building on Public Square in downtown Cleveland. Still, the
Van Sweringens brought Shaker Farm to life. Although the deed restrictions in the District expired in 1929 and apparently
were not extended to 1950 and expanded as they were in Shaker Heights, the few new homes constructed in the District
after 1929 conformed to the deed specifications through the 1930s. With these facts in mind, it seems appropriate to end
the period of significance for the Shaker Farm Historic District with the death of M.J. Van Sweringen in 1935. M.J.’s
brother, O.P., said he was incapable to carrying on alone, and died less than a year later. By that time, Shaker Farm was
largely built out. Its formative period was at an end. Accordingly, the period of significance for the Shaker Farm Historic
District is 1906 to 1935.

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary) N/A

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and
applicable criteria.)

Shaker Farm Historic District in Cleveland Heights, Ohio, is eligible for the National Register of Historic Places under
Criteria A and C. Criterion A is applicable because the district represents a significant example of early American
suburban planning broadly and the early suburban expansion of Cleveland specifically. The community was planned to
provide a prestigious and stable living environment for affluent owners and has remained successful in that regard to the
present.

Criterion C is exhibited in the District's many excellent residences representing popular styles of the early twentieth century
and including outstanding examples of the work of prominent Cleveland architects. Homes in the District are included in
books on the architecture of American homes, such as A Field Guide to American Houses, and in local books, such as
Beautiful Homes of Cleveland, published in 1917. They have been featured in national publications such as Architectural
Record and on television shows such as HGTV's Dream Drives. Homes in the District were regularly featured and
prominently advertised with pictures and details in local news publications of the time such a Town Topics and The Plain
Dealer.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Shaker Farm Historic District is significant under Criteria A because, by the end of the nineteenth century, Cleveland, Ohio,
had expanded to such an extent on the plain along Lake Erie that developers and wealthy families began to look farther
east, up the slopes to the farmland and woods on the “heights” for homes away from the burgeoning and polluted city.
Cleveland Heights is among several early suburbs formed as a result of Cleveland’s expansion. The formation of
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surrounding suburbs was a trend in many other American cities at the time — a broad pattern in our history. As the
nineteenth century began, Cleveland had emerged as a leading manufacturing center, with many wealthy citizens as a
result. Because the local economy was so strong — a magnet for many seeking opportunity — by 1920, Cleveland was the
nation’s fifth largest city.

The district is significant due to the size of the Shaker farm tract and the unprecedented rigid control of its development by
the Van Sweringens. Shaker Farm and Shaker Village were designed for well-do-do buyers and designed to protect the
value of these investments through restrictions and specifications. Also unprecedented, according to John R. Stilgoe in
Borderlands: Origins of the American Suburb, 1820-1939, was the public relations campaign the Van Sweringens
launched to entice upper- and upper-middle-class families to the Heights. An array of pamphlets, newspaper
advertisements, leaflets, and broadsides, stunningly illustrated, glorified the effects on families of living in meticulously
sited, architect-designed and well constructed single-family homes away from apartment houses, factories and unsuitable
people who were barred from buying into the development.

Shaker Farm Historic District is significant under Criteria C as it represents an outstanding cohesive and intact example of
dominant architectural styles of the early twentieth century, designed by leading architects, generally using the finest
materials and craftsmanship. Many homes in the District, as described above, have artistic merit and collectively lend
distinction to the District. The homes represent an era of affluence and comfort for those who achieved success in the
Cleveland area in the early part of the last century.

The boundary of the District includes the northern portion of what was Shaker farmland between roughly 1822 and 1889,
when the popularity of the Shaker religious movement and the sect's numbers had dwindled and aged to the point that
trustees decided to sell the tract. After various transfers, this land was owned by The Shaker Heights Land Company,
which had very limited success in selling plots on which homes were actually built until the Van Sweringens took over
marketing and sales in 1905. The period of significance begins in 1906 when the first house was built in the District and
ends in 1935, when M.J. Van Sweringen died, followed in less than a year by his brother, O.P. The contributing structures
evoke the vision for the District that they promoted. The 1907 marketing brochure for the area, which bears O.P. Van
Sweringen’s name as Vice President of the Shaker Heights Improvement Company, envisaged “...a region where beautiful
homes are situated amid spacious grounds in an extensive park, where the architect and the landscape designer have
worked together, in their respective spheres, for harmony in the treatment of the houses and grounds. To this end, we
have planned to heighten the natural attractions of this region in the interest of ultimate beauty and healthfulness by
improving the streets in the best manner known to civil engineers, by restricting its use to fine homes carefully placed and
widely separated and by selling the lots only to most desirable people at reasonable prices. No other tract of land about
Cleveland possesses the combined advantages of convenient location, native picturesqueness and purity of air.”

A total of 11 homes were constructed between 1906 and 1909 within the boundaries of the Shaker Farm Historic District.
Two hundred sixty-six residences and one church remain of those built between 1910 and 1919. One hundred four homes
and two schools were built between 1920 and 1929, reflecting the great prosperity of that decade. Just 24 more homes,
one church and one school were built over the subsequent decades, indicating the stability that followed.

Construction of homes in the Shaker Farm Historic District, largely beginning in 1910, laid the foundation and set the
precedent for the construction in the 1920s of homes that are now included in the initial Shaker Village District (the Shaker
Village District was subsequently expanded).

The large plot of land that the Shakers had accumulated on either side of Doan Brook in the Heights was attractive for
development late in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, due to its location and topography. The Shakers were a
religious sect founded in England by Mother Ann Lee who fled to America in 1774 to avoid religious persecution. Officially
named the United Society of Believers in Christ's Second Appearance, the sect espoused confession of sin, community
ownership of land, withdrawal from the world, refusal to bear arms, equality of the sexes, and celibacy. Believers practiced
a form of dance to shake away sin that earned them the derisive name of Shakers. Ralph Russell, the son of an early
settler of the Heights, walked to the Union Village Shaker community in Lebanon, Ohio, where he was converted. He
converted family members and founded the North Union Community in 1822 on his family’s farmland in the Heights. The
Shakers accumulated more land over time.

At its peak, this Shaker community numbered 300 members, housed in three families (see Map #11). They named their
colony “Valley of God's Pleasure” and welcomed orphans, families, blacks, whites, Jews, Swiss, Scotch, Germans,
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Swedes and Indians on an equal plane, to the horror and disgust of their neighbors. In fact, the Shakers had to rebuild
after outsiders set fire to some of their buildings in the early 18505. Despite such animosity, the Shakers excelled in
agriculture, marketing, furniture making, spinning and weaving, and invented some 40 items, from seed packaging and the
washing machine to the clothespin, flat broom and circular saw.

After the Civil War, more and more people left the religion, and demand for homemade items decreased as the Machine
Age arrived. In 1889, the colony was disbanded and the remaining 27 elderly Shakers resettled in other areas. On April 7,
1892, the Shakers’ trustees sold the North Union land, 1,393.40 acres, to Lawrence Lamb of Richmond, Virginia, for
$316,000.00. On the same day, Lamb sold all of the land to the Continental Development Company for $400,000.00.
Lamb and his brother are listed as president and vice president, respectively, of the Continental Development Company.
The following year, Lamb, acting for the Continental Development Company, sold the entire tract to Joseph A. Oakes for
“One Dollar and other valuable considerations,” including the assumption of a mortgage for $315,000.

This was apparently the start of the Shaker Heights Land Company, which was incorporated in New York in 1893, a.k.a.
the Buffalo Syndicate. In 1896, this organization gave about 275 acres of land along Doan Brook and its lakes to the
Board of Park Commissioners of the City of Cleveland for Shaker Heights Park. The noted landscape architect, Ernest W.
Bowditch, laid out two gracefully curving boulevards (North Park and South Park) along either side of the rather remote
new parklands. However, the financial depression of the 1890s dampened hopes for quick profits from the sale of the real
estate. The picturesque parklands remained surrounded by abandoned farmland and the ruins of Shaker buildings.

The Shaker Heights Land Company gave another .579 acres in 1906 for the widening of North Park Boulevard.
Simultaneously, John D. Rockefeller donated land he owned along Doan Brook between Shaker Heights Park and Ambler
Park to the Cleveland Park Commission. By that time, W.H. Gratwick was president and H.P. Bissell was secretary of the
Shaker Heights Land Company.

A Cuyahoga County Recorder’s Plat Book dated January 20, 1903, (Volume 3, page 2) that encompasses lots on Coventry
Road and along North Park Boulevard from Coventry Road west to land owned by Rockefeller is the earliest development
plan for the District. This plan was developed by Walter P. Rice Engineering Company and anticipated sizable plots,
mostly in the range of two or three acres, along North Park, suitable for large mansions. A large estate was actually
constructed in the northern Shaker farmlands ~ Kenyon Painter's Deer Park on the south side of Fairmount Boulevard
between Lee and Shelburne Roads. The estate’s mansion was designed in the English Renaissance style by Charles
Schneider and built in 1904. Used as a summer home for 10 years, the walled estate had a private zoo with animals and
birds in a structure along the wall on the Fairmount side of the estate. A bear pit nearby and the deer rounded out the
menagerie. The mansion today is used as offices for Beaumont School for Girls, which takes up much of land of the
former estate. This property is excluded from the Shaker Farm Historic District because it was developed before the Van
Sweringens’ involvement. While other sizeable estates were apparently contemplated, none were actually built in the area
that now encompasses the Shaker Farm Historic District.

Over the years, the Shaker Heights Land Company engaged three different firms to market and sell plots, but with little
success. Shortly after The F.A. Pease Engineering Company was incorporated in 1903, this civil and municipal
engineering and surveying firm was hired by the Shaker Heights Land Company, which had an address in Buffalo, N.Y., to
survey the lands of the old Shaker Colony. The actual layout of the Shaker Farm Historic District dates from 1904, when
The F.A. Pease Engineering Company created a plan for the Shaker Heights Land Company (see Map #12), as well as for
what is now the Euclid Golf Historic District, listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 2002. The 1904 Pease
plan envisaged an environment of beauty and individuality that preserved the charm of nature with curving streets and
varying lot sizes, though the section east of Lee has a grid pattern. This plan is not the final layout exactly, but the major
outlines are formed. This Pease plan appears in a marketing brochure of the Shaker Heights Land Co. entitied “Shaker
Heights, Ideal Home Sites,” which must have been produced in 1904 or 1905, because the brochure says that O.C. Ringle
& Company are sole agents for The Shaker Heights Land Company. The brochure notes that the proposed development
was in what was at the time East Cleveland and Warrensville Townships.

In the latter half of 1905, O.P. and M.J. Van Sweringen obtained and then sold a few of the lots Ringle had on hand along
North Park Boulevard. At Ringle’s urging, they travelled to Buffalo to see if a complete arrangement could be set up. The
initial agreement specified a 30-day option on a small parcel of the Shakers' land, still owned by the Buffalo syndicate.
The agreement with the Van Sweringens stipulated that they could take a second option for double the amount of land and
time if they were successful in selling the original parcel. Each succeeding option contained the same provision. Given
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the sales track record to date, Gratwick and his fellow investors had nothing to lose and everything to gain by accepting
this offer.

Who were these entrepreneurial Van Sweringens? O.P. was born in 1879, and M.J. was born in 1881. Their mother died
of tuberculosis in 1886. The family, now with three sons and two daughters, moved to Cleveland from the Wooster area in
about 1890. The oldest brother, Herbert, supported the family with a steady job at the Cleveland Storage Company as the
father was alcoholic. Their two older sisters raised O.P. and M. J., who visited the Shaker Lakes as boys. When O.P. was
17 and M.J. was 15 in 1896, they had a bicycle shop. Both were working for a fertilizer company in 1897. But while still in
his teens, O.P. had decided he would enter the real-estate business at the age of 21. Working together, the two brothers
entered real estate part time. They made small profits on the sale of a couple of houses, and then tried full time to sell lots
in the Clifton Boulevard area of Lakewood. This ended in foreclosure when the lots on which the brothers had made down
payment did not sell quickly enough to pay off the debt the brothers had taken on. After two years during which they were
only able to continue to do business under their sisters’ names because the foreclosures made them insolvent, the
brothers managed to earn enough from varied work to settle the Lakewood debt. Meanwhile, their father died in 1903.
Their older brother, Herbert, joined the Cleveland-Cliffs iron Company as a bookkeeper and, it appears, had little active
involvement with his younger brothers’ business affairs thereafter.

After a few varied intervening gambits, the brothers shifted real-estate operations to the opposite side of the city. Marking
a new beginning, they resumed the use of “Van” in their name; in becoming Americanized, the family had shed that part of
their Dutch name. In 1905, subdividing the Ringle properties on North Park Boulevard in Cleveland Heights for large
residences, and focusing on the “carriage trade” (wealthy customers who could afford a stable and help with horses and a
carriage), the brothers enjoyed immediate success. The brothers had a low key manner that was successful with upper-
crust buyers.

By the turn of the century, prosperity had returned to Cleveland. In fact, the city was booming through shipping,
shipbuilding, manufacturing, coal, steel and oil. Between 1904 and 1909, the number of industrial establishments grew by
33 percent, the amount of capital invested in Cleveland industries increased by 45 percent, and the total value of products
manufactured in the city leaped by 58 percent. However, Gratwick and Albright grew discouraged as weeds and brush
took over their land and its appraised value fell to $240,000. In contrast, as their success increased, the Van Sweringen's
saw the potential of the area and made an historic decision. A marketing brochure dated 1914 and entitled “The Shaker
Heights Subdivision of SH” features pictures of homes in the Shaker Farm Historic District and notes, “In April, 1906, The
Shaker Heights Improvement Company purchased the three hundred acres of the old Shaker Farm, which lay north of
Shaker Lakes and on both side of Fairmount Boulevard.” This is almost exactly the tract of Shaker Farm Historic District.

Officers of The Shaker Heights Improvement Company in 1914 included E. Warner White, President; C.K. Arter, Vice-
President; T.W. Larwood, Jr., Secretary; and T.E. Borton, Treasurer. A 1907 marketing brochure of The Shaker Heights
Improvement Company listed the same officers, except that O.P Van Sweringen was listed as Vice President instead of
C.K. Arter. It seems that the Shaker Heights Land Company and the Shaker Heights Improvement Company were closely
aligned entities, mutually dedicated to the development of the Shaker farmland with offices in the same building on Public
Square in downtown Cleveland. By 1908, they were joined by the Shaker Lakes Land Company, which seems to have
been the first of the Van Sweringens’ land syndicates. These syndicates proliferated in bewildering numbers as time
passed. There were already a half dozen such syndicates by 1913, with more to come in the ‘teens and ‘twenties.

The purchase and development of the lands of the Shaker Farm Historic District set a pattern that the Van Sweringens
repeated and expanded over and over through a series of syndicates to build real estate and other holdings. The brothers
had learned how to convince others to provide them with the financial backing needed for their expansion plans. By 1907,
the brothers had organized a syndicate of Cleveland businessmen, including bankers J.R. Nutt and Charles Bradley,
securities dealers Warren S. Hayden and Otto Miller, and several others, to buy the remaining approximately 1,200 acres
of the Shaker land.

By this time, Patrick Calhoun, an entrepreneur from the South, had already succeeded in persuading wealthy Clevelanders
to build impressive mansions at the top of Cedar Glen on Overlook Road and nearby in his Euclid Heights Allotment,
where E.W. Bowditch had laid out streets for this 300-acre allotment. (See Map #7 for nearby developments.) In 1896,
Calhoun had negotiated a franchise to establish rail service to Euclid Heights. The electric street railway line up Cedar
Glen and along Euclid Heights Boulevard to Edgehill Road was built in 1897. It was later expanded east to Coventry Road
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and then north to Mayfield in 1906. The line reached as far east as Taylor Road in 1915. Utility installation was also
accomplished through private arrangements with utility companies.

The availability of transportation and utility service made subdivision of large land tracts into salable lots a practical reality.
Calhoun had built the imposing Tudor Revival style Euclid Club in the allotment on the north of Cedar Road in 1901 as an
added amenity, and also arranged to use 141 acres opposite the Euclid Club on the south side of Cedar that belonged to
John D. Rockefeller, Sr., to complete an 18-hole golf course — the first professionally designed 18-hole golf course in the
Cleveland area. Golfers had to work around territory occupied by some more modest homes that stood on Belifield and
Grandview Avenues in the Cedar Heights allotment developed by Edmund Walton. Ambler Heights, to the south of Cedar
Glen, was poised for development.

The Van Sweringens realized that the problem with most of the Shaker land was that it was too far from the end of the
street railway system for successful development. In the early decades of the twentieth century, as Cleveland was
booming and automobile ownership was just getting under way, street railways were key to the development of suburbs.
In fact, the Van Sweringens believed that inadequate transportation was a factor in their defeat in Lakewood.

Electric streetcars were first successfully developed for urban transportation in 1888 and began to spread rapidly.
Throughout the year, they were far more reliable and less polluting than horse-drawn transportation. At the same time,
thanks to steel mills, refineries, coal-fired steam locomotives and lake freighters, a xenophobic reaction to immigrants and
their enclaves, and horses, Cleveland was viewed as a dirty, smelly and unattractive place to live. Owners and managers
of industry, bankers, lawyers and successful retailers were eager to get away from it all.

Development of the Heights began in earnest after the streetcar line was built up the hill in 1897 to open Euclid Heights,
Patrick Calhoun’s elite garden suburb. Construction of homes in the adjacent Ambler Heights began in 1906. In that year,
the Euclid Heights streetcar line was extended to Mayfield Road, but a branch was needed to the Shaker farmland. So in
1906, O.P. asked the Cleveland Electric Railway to build a branch out along Fairmount Boulevard, which was one of the
original Shaker roadways. To facilitate the project, the brothers would provide the land and cover interest costs on the line
for five years. John D. Rockefeller, Sr., permitted the Cleveland Street Railroad Company to place a streetcar line through
his property to connect the Cedar Road line to Coventry Road via what would become Fairmount Boulevard. The new
“Shaker Lakes" line was completed to Lee Road in 1907. It went right through the golf links of the Euclid Club.

The syndicate the Van Sweringens formed to complete the purchase of the entire Shaker lands was a predecessor of the
Van Sweringen Company. This syndicate paid over $1 million in 1907 for the remaining acres of Shaker land not already
owned by the Van Sweringens. Eventually, using debt and very little equity, the Van Sweringens expanded their holdings
to more than 8,000 acres extending from East 93" Street east to Gates Mills and Hunting Valley Villages. The Van
Sweringens' financial arrangements were obviously highly successful but also risky in the event of an economic downturn.
The Van Sweringens continued to work with the Pease firm to plan the layout of the lands they acquired through the
1920s. From this auspicious beginning, the Pease firm continued for more than 50 years and had a very distinguished
history planning many other subdivisions in the Greater Cleveland area as well.

As noted above, the development of the Shaker farmland was designed to provide long-term stability for upper-class
buyers by offering a completely planned, regulated and harmonious community. It was based on principles developed for
the Roland Park project in Baltimore. The concept included property-deed covenants restricting house size, cost,
architectural style, placement (setbacks), and resale procedures. Before the Van Sweringens became involved in selling
and marketing the Shaker farmland, the Buffalo-based Shaker Heights Land Company had already defined the
restrictions, which were to last until May 1, 1929. (See bottom of second page, Exhibit #3.)

The Van Sweringens embraced the Buffalo investors’ requirements for Shaker Farm completely and later extended them,
with some minor modifications, to the Shaker Village development. As a result, before building, house plans had to be
reviewed and approved. Attached houses, row houses and commercial structures — any buildings except residences or
outbuilding associated with them — were banned. Billboards and “other unsightly nuisances” were prohibited. Depending
on the width and importance of the street, homes had to be set back 60 to 100 feet from the street. Only one house was
allowed per minimum size lot, and the restrictions required ample space between houses. Properties on the western end
of the development had to have at least 80 feet frontage, and Fairmount Boulevard houses had to have at least 100 feet
frontage. Curving, tree-lined residential streets leading into a wide central boulevard, and generous provision for churches,
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top-quality schools and other amenities completed the formula for both the Shaker Farm Historic District and the Shaker
Village District.

An examination of several sources, particularly Elroy Avery's three volume History of Cleveland and its Environs, reveals a
considerable amount of detail about the original owners and families who chose to build and live in the Shaker Farm
Historic District. (See Exhibit #4) Most of the early residents were businessmen and professionals, and many were
officers of multiple companies that represented a growing industrial area. The companies imported raw materials such as
iron ore and lumber, and also ran, or contracted out to, related companies engaged in shipping, foundry work, iron and
steel manufacturing, lumber mills and furniture and home builders. For instance William Jeavons of 2541 Arlington Road,
while an inventor himself, was affiliated with the Cleveland Foundry Co., which merged with Cleveland Metal Products. He
invented the Perfection Oil Stove and founded the Perfection Stove Co., while also maintaining his earlier involvement with
the other companies. He became President of the Perfection Stove Co., and many of his fellow officers of the company
‘lived within a few blocks of his home. David W. Teachout, who built a home at 2889 North Park Boulevard as well as at
2465 Arlington Road, was the President of multiple companies, including the Teachout Building Supply Co., the Lincoln
Co., the Broadway Lumber Co., the Heights Oil Co., the Harris-Murray Co. and City Savings and Loan Co.

Presidents, officers, directors and founders of service industries, such as banks, savings and loans, law firms, real estate
agencies and health care facilities were also among the first to build and live in the area. For instance, many of the
lawyers in the area became involved in major Cleveland law firms specializing in corporate investment bonds and some
entered academia, teaching at Western Reserve School of Law. Two doctors in the area were co-founders of MetroHealth
Center and the Cleveland Clinic.

Interestingly, many families, brothers and sisters, parents and children and extended families purchased land and built
homes close to, or even next door to each other and remained in those homes for many years. One architect, whose
sister's house shared a backyard with his own, built an addition to her home. In addition, many of the families living near
each other also worked together as officers of the same companies. Early residents of the Shaker Farm Historic District
were well represented in Cleveland’s social register.

The Heights project never had a precise name, but the specifications for homes built in the development were precise.
The curvilinear style of street design — as opposed to the traditional gridiron scheme of straight streets and rectangular
blocks — was key. It accommodated houses of different price levels on the same tract of land but maintained the value of
the more expensive homes by dividing properties on main thoroughfares and curved inside streets into different price
sections, which had also been done at nearby Euclid Heights. For example, the 1907 marketing brochure specifies that
homes on Fairmount Boulevard required a $7,000 investment, those on Stratford $6,000, and those on Guilford, Islington
(later renamed Arlington), Monmouth and Fairfax $5,000. In addition, streets were laid out in conformity to the natural
topography of the land so that they provided esthetically pleasing home sites that were distant from heavy traffic and
accommodated storm-water drainage. Finally, wealthy Clevelanders appreciated the wide boulevards in the Heights,
which mem